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Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits.
 
(a) Financial Statements of Businesses or Funds Acquired.
 
The audited consolidated financial statements of Molekule, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes thereto, are filed
herewith as Exhibit 99.1, which is incorporated herein by reference.
 
(b) Pro Forma Financial Information.
 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information of AeroClean Technologies, Inc. (n/k/a Molekule Group, Inc.) and Molekule, Inc. for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 is filed herewith as Exhibit 99.2, which is incorporated herein by reference.
 
(d) Exhibits.
 
See the Exhibit Index below, which is incorporated herein by reference.
 

EXHIBIT INDEX
 

Exhibit No.   Description
23.1   Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
     
99.1   Audited consolidated financial statements of Molekule, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes thereto.
     
99.2

 
Unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information of AeroClean Technologies, Inc. (n/k/a Molekule Group, Inc.) and
Molekule, Inc. as of and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022.

     
104   Cover Page Interactive Data file (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)
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SIGNATURE

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
hereunto duly authorized.
  
Dated: June 9, 2023
 
  MOLEKULE GROUP, INC.
     
  By: /s/ Ryan Tyler
    Name: Ryan Tyler
    Title: Chief Financial Officer
 

 
 



Exhibit 23.1
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
 
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-269232) and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-271250, 333-
269209, 333-264889, 333-261396, and 333-261395) of Molekule Group, Inc. of our report dated June 7, 2023, relating to the financial statements of
Molekule, Inc.
 
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
 
San Francisco, California
 
June 9, 2023
 

 
 



 
Exhibit 99.1

 
Report of Independent Auditors

 
To the Board of Directors of Molekule, Inc.
 
Opinion
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Molekule, Inc. and its subsidiary (the “Company”), which comprise the
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated statements of operations, of changes in redeemable convertible
preferred stock and stockholders’ deficit and of cash flows for the years then ended, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated
financial statements”).
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December  31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (US GAAS). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
required to be independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to
our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
 
Emphasis of Matter
 
As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for leases in 2022. Our opinion is
not modified with respect to this matter.
 
Substantial Doubt About the Company’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has incurred recurring losses from operations and operating cash outflows, had an
accumulated deficit at December 31, 2022, violated certain financial debt covenants and has stated that substantial doubt exists about the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern. Management’s evaluation of the events and conditions and management’s plans regarding these matters are also described
in Note 2. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. Our opinion is not
modified with respect to this matter.
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 405 Howard Street, Suite 600, San Francisco, CA 94105
T: (415) 498 5000, www.pwc.com/us
 

 



 

 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date the financial statements are available to be issued.
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually
or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.
 
In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS, we:
 

· Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
     

· Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

     

· Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

     

· Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well
as evaluate the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

     

· Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant
audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit.
 
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Francisco, California
June 07, 2023
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Molekule, Inc. and Subsidiary
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2022 and 2021
 

    2022     2021  
Assets              
Current assets              

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 2,371,556    $ 15,883,575 
Restricted cash     1,115,899      1,673,848 
Accounts receivable, net     800,627      3,973,851 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     565,215      1,355,232 
Inventories     26,069,761      24,589,457 

Total current assets     30,923,058      47,475,963 
Property and equipment, net     9,409,109      11,545,451 
Intangible assets, net     1,965,490      2,772,094 
Right of use asset     9,806,322      - 
Security deposits     220,778      224,951 

Total noncurrent assets     21,401,699      14,542,496 
Total assets   $ 52,324,757    $ 62,018,459 

Liabilities, Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders' Deficit              
Current liabilities              

Accounts payable   $ 10,844,472    $ 14,686,893 
Accrued sales tax     456,419      1,964,944 
Contract liabilities     93,764      482,619 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     2,644,328      7,917,842 
Legal liability (Note 10)     1,831,898      2,700,000 
Restructuring liability (Note 14)     -      3,587,021 
Lease liability     2,349,177      - 
Notes payable, current portion     2,104,222      3,929,176 

Total current liabilities     20,324,280      35,268,495 
Notes payable, net of current portion     34,252,566      34,112,793 
Lease liability, net of current portion     8,009,077      - 
Simple Agreements for Future Equity     -      20,380,000 

Total liabilities   $ 62,585,923    $ 89,761,288 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)              
               
Series Seed redeemable convertible Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 0 and 6,051,713 shares authorized; 0 and
5,995,012 shares issued and outstanding; aggregate minimum liquidation preference of $0 and $3,967,499     -      3,967,499 
               
Series A redeemable Convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 0 and 17,662,936 shares authorized; 0 and
17,662,936 shares issued and outstanding; aggregate minimum liquidation preference of $0 and $13,084,703     -      12,930,747 
               
Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 0 and 14,389,815 shares authorized; 0 and
14,389,815 shares issued and outstanding; aggregate minimum liquidation preference of $0 and $26,510,356     -      26,321,204 
               
Series C redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 7,607,063 shares authorized; 7,607,063 shares
issued and outstanding; aggregate minimum liquidation preference of $0 and $22,999,955     -      22,887,375 
               
Series C-1 redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 0 and 23,500,000 shares authorized; 0 and
21,773,377 shares issued and outstanding; aggregate minimum liquidation preference of $0 and $67,882,938     -      67,758,076 
               
Series 1 redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 105,168,424 and 0 shares authorized;
82,313,740 and 0 shares issued and outstanding; aggregate minimum liquidation preference of $2,789,613 and $0     16,952,459      - 

Total redeemable convertible preferred stock     16,952,459      133,864,901 
Stockholders' Deficit              
Common Stock, $0.0001 par value; 164,431,000 shares authorized; 28,649,857 and 1,333,397 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021     2,863      128 
Additional paid-in capital     141,840,165      5,896,564 
Accumulated deficit     (169,056,653)     (167,504,422)

Total stockholders' deficit     (27,213,625)     (161,607,730)
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ deficit   $ 52,324,757    $ 62,018,459 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Molekule, Inc. and Subsidiary
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021
 

    2022     2021  
Net revenue   $ 48,028,194    $ 76,052,125 
Cost of revenue     (32,476,891)     (51,508,445)

Gross profit     15,551,303      24,543,680 
Operating expenses              
General, administrative, research and development     38,948,195      58,767,236 
Sales, marketing and advertising     9,389,376      23,031,279 
Restructuring and other impairment charges     -      4,745,057 

Total operating expenses     48,337,571      86,543,572 
Operating loss     (32,786,268)     (61,999,892)

Other income (expense)              
Other income     35,510,107      891,167 
Other expense     (159,645)     (143,982)
Interest expense     (4,116,425)     (2,899,760)

Total other expense     31,234,037      (2,152,575)
Loss, before income tax provision     (1,552,231)     (64,152,467)

Income tax provision     -      - 
Net loss   $ (1,552,231)   $ (64,152,467)

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Molekule, Inc. and Subsidiary
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Deficit
Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021
 

    Stockholders’ Deficit              
                                           
                Additional           Total     Redeemable Convertible  
    Common Stock     Paid-in     Accumulated     Stockholders’     Preferred Stock  
    Shares     Amount     Capital     Deficit     Deficit     Shares     Amount  

Balance at December 31, 2020     1,304,593    $ 125    $ 3,522,039    $(103,351,955)   $ (99,829,791)     67,412,178    $ 133,814,901 
Common stock option exercises     28,804      3      261,810      -      261,813      -      - 
Stock-based compensation     -      -      1,834,203      -      1,834,203      -      - 
Issuance of redeemable convertible

Series C-1 preferred stock,     -      -      -      -      -      16,025      50,000 
Issuance of 40,975 common stock

warrants     -      -      278,512      -      278,512      -      - 
Net loss     -      -      -      (64,152,467)     (64,152,467)     -      - 
Balance at December 31, 2021     1,333,397      128      5,896,564      (167,504,422)     (161,607,730)     67,428,203      133,864,901 
Common stock option exercises     188      5      11,498      -      11,503      -      - 
Stock-based compensation     -      -      1,449,074      -      1,449,074      -      - 
Issuance of redeemable convertible

Series 1 preferred stock, net of
$117,439     -      -      -      -      -      82,313,740      16,952,459 

Modification of common stock
warrants     -      -      (407,733)     -      (407,733)     -      - 

SAFE conversion     20,571,841      2,056      1,026,535      -      1,028,591      -      - 
Conversion of preferred shares     6,744,431      674      133,864,227      -      133,864,901      (67,428,203)     (133,864,901)
Net loss     -      -      -      (1,552,231)     (1,552,231)     -      - 
Balance at December 31, 2022     28,649,857    $ 2,863    $141,840,165   $(169,056,653)   $ (27,213,625)     82,313,740    $ 16,952,459 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Molekule, Inc. and Subsidiary
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021
 

    2022     2021  
Cash flows from operating activities              
Net loss   $ (1,552,231)   $ (64,152,467)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities              

Depreciation and amortization expense     3,688,711      4,971,831 
Amortization of right of use asset     2,085,257      - 
Stock-based compensation     1,449,074      1,834,203 
Gain on warrants     (225,091)     - 
Change in fair value of derivative liability     (14,935,188)     5,650 
Change in fair value and loss on settlement of SAFEs     (19,351,408)     - 
Bad debt provision     22,057      127,323 
Inventory reserve provision     4,396,336      963,462 
Accretion of debt discounts     235,993      113,425 
Loss on property and equipment disposal     933,369      600,218 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities              

Accounts receivable     3,151,167      (2,834,202)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     790,017      1,339,975 
Inventories     (5,876,640)     (10,024,215)
Security deposits     4,172      (67,350)
Accounts payable     (3,842,421)     (2,894,945)
Accrued sales tax     (1,508,525)     (532,247)
Contract liabilities     (388,855)     326,992 
Other non current liabilities     (2,322,862)     - 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     (8,031,357)     6,239,051 

Net cash used in operating activities     (41,278,425)     (63,983,296)
Cash flows from investing activities              
Property and equipment purchases     (1,648,911)     (3,644,264)
Internally developed software costs     (1,136,930)     (1,546,457)

Net cash used in investing activities     (2,785,841)     (5,190,721)
Cash flows from financing activities              
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable convertible preferred stock Series 1 preferred stock, net     31,894,379      50,000 
Proceeds from notes payable borrowings     -      30,511,228 
Proceeds from issuance of SAFEs     -      20,380,000 
Repayments of notes payable borrowings     (1,911,584)     (3,520,762)
Proceeds from exercises of common stock options     11,503      261,837 

Net cash provided by financing activities     29,994,298      47,682,303 
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash     (14,069,968)     (21,491,714)

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash              
Beginning of year     17,557,423      39,049,137 
End of year   $ 3,487,455    $ 17,557,423 
Reconciliation to amounts on the consolidated balance sheet              
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 2,371,556    $ 15,883,575 
Restricted cash     1,115,899      1,673,848 

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash   $ 3,487,455    $ 17,557,423 
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information              
Interest paid   $ 4,038,898    $ 2,549,474 
Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing activities              
Property and equipment and internally developted purchases in accrued expenses and other current liabilities   $ 130,460    $ 1,237,167 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Molekule, Inc. and Subsidiary 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021
 
1. Description of Business
 

Molekule, Inc. (the “Company” or “Molekule”) is engaged in the manufacturing and selling of air purifiers and filters primarily in the United
States, but also in Canada. During 2020, the Company began selling directly to distributors in Japan and South Korea. During 2021, the Company
also began selling directly to consumers in Europe. In 2022, sales continued to be primarily within the United States. The Company incorporated
in the state of Delaware in February 2015 as Transformair, Inc. and changed its name to Molekule, Inc. through an amendment to its articles of
incorporation in June 2016. The accompanying consolidated financial statements include Molekule and its wholly owned subsidiary.

 
The Company’s headquarters are located in San Francisco, California, with an additional research facility in Tampa, Florida, a warehouse and
refurbishment center in Lakeland, FL, and a wholly owned subsidiary in Costa Rica. During 2020, the Company stopped operating out of Costa
Rica; however, the legal entity continues to exist. During 2020, the Company significantly increased its sales to third party retailers but continues
to maintain the majority of its sales as direct-to-consumer.

 
On October 3, 2022, AeroClean Technologies,  Inc. (“AeroClean”) and the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (“Merger
Agreement”). Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, AeroClean stockholders will own 50.5% and Molekule stockholders will own 49.5% of
the outstanding common equity of the merged Company on a pro forma basis. The transaction closed on January 12, 2023. With the close of the
transaction, the Company is currently a wholly owned subsidiary of AeroClean, which was recently renamed Molekule Group, Inc.

 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 

Basis of Accounting
 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United State of America (“U.S. GAAP”). All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

 
Liquidity

 
The Company incurred operating losses and operating cash outflows in 2022 and 2021 and had an accumulated deficit at December 31, 2022. At
December 31, 2022, the Company held $2,371,556 in unrestricted cash. From incorporation through December 31, 2022, the Company financed
its operations, capital expenditures and working capital needs through the issuance of convertible redeemable preferred stock, Simple Agreements
for Future Equity (“SAFEs”) and debt financing. The Company was not in compliance with its financial covenants as of December 31, 2022; and
received a waiver from the bank on January 12, 2023 and an amendment for the debt agreement that would not require them to evaluate any
revenue minimum covenants until March 31, 2024.

 
In order to address the cash needs of the Company, in May 2022, the Company’s board of directors and stockholders approved a capital raise that
authorized the Company to issue up to $40,000,000 of Series 1 Preferred Shares at a per share purchase price of $0.3889. The Company then
completed the initial closing of the capital raise through the sale and issuance of 57,084,078 shares of Series 1 Preferred Stock for a total
consideration of approximately $22,200,000 in May 2022. As a result of this capital raise, all of the SAFEs outstanding were immediately
converted into an aggregate of 20,571,841 shares of common stock. In August 2022, an additional sale and issuance of 7,230,189 shares of
Series 1 Preferred Stock for a total consideration of approximately $2,811,819 closed. In October and December 2022, there was an additional sale
and issuance of 17,999,484 shares of Series 1 Preferred Stock for a total consideration of approximately $7,000,000. In addition to securing
additional capital, the Company also was acquired by AeroClean on January 12, 2023. See Note 14.
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Molekule, Inc. and Subsidiary 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021
 

The Company is optimistic about the impact of its actions to restructure the business; however, there can be no assurances the Company can
successfully increase revenues or improve operating cash flow and accordingly, may not have sufficient funds on its own, or as a result of the
transaction (note 14), to fund its operations for the twelve months following the issuance of this report. As a result, the Company determined that
substantial doubt exists about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months from the date of this report.

 
Concentrations of Risk

 
Financial instruments that subject the Company to concentrations of risk consist primarily of cash. The Company maintains deposits in financial
institutions in excess of federally insured limits. Specifically, the Company holds all its cash with Silicon Valley Bank. On March 10, 2023, the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation announced that Silicon Valley Bank had been closed by the California Department of Financial Protection
and Innovation. While the Company has regained access to all accounts held at Silicon Valley Bank, the Company is evaluating its banking
relationship. Future disruptions of financial institutions or disruptions of the financial services industry in general could adversely affect the
Company’s ability to access its cash and cash equivalents.

 
Two vendors accounted for 20 and 7 percent and 30 and 6 percent of purchases during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, 56 and 9 percent and 50 and 10 percent of accounts payable were due to these vendors, respectively.

 
Two customers accounted for 31 and 11 percent and 49 and 24 percent of accounts receivable as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
There are no concentrations within net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

 
Use of Estimates

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents

 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash and highly liquid investments with maturities at the date of investment of not more than three months. The
Company held no cash equivalents as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.

 
Restricted Cash

 
The Company had a restricted cash balance of $1,115,899 and $1,673,848 as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The balance of
restricted cash is for collateral in compliance with the Company’s agreement related to its office lease. The balance was held as restricted cash in a
separate bank account.

 
Accounts Receivable

 
The majority of the accounts receivable balance at December 31, 2022 and 2021 was with retail customers. The Company recorded an allowance
for doubtful accounts of $22,057 at December 31, 2022 and $127,323 at December 31, 2021, respectively. The Company has no history of
material write-offs of accounts receivable.
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Molekule, Inc. and Subsidiary 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021
 

Inventories
 

Inventories, which consist of raw materials and finished goods, are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, with cost being determined
on a first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) basis. The costs related to inbound freight, tariffs and fees related to the purchases of inventories, are capitalized as
part of the ending inventory, with the net change recorded as a component of cost of revenue.

 
The Company recorded an inventory reserve of $5,539,855 as of December 31, 2022 and $1,353,117 as of December 31, 2021. The increase in the
reserve is a result of the determination of not being able to re-sell returned inventory.

 
Warranty Reserve

 
The Company generally provides warranties for a period of two years from the date of shipment that the product will be free from defects in
materials and workmanship under normal use in accordance with the documentation provided with the product. The Company recorded a warranty
reserve of $426,787 and $429,607 as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, which is included in accrued expenses and other current
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

 
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist generally of payments for rent, insurance and software services in advance of the use of the
services or related facilities.

 
Debt Issuance Costs

 
Costs incurred in connection with the issuance of any new term debt are treated as debt discount and recorded as a reduction to the debt balance.
The Company amortizes debt discount costs over the term of the related debt using the effective interest method.

 
Property and Equipment, Net

 
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the useful life of the related assets or the lease term.
Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to expenses as incurred. For assets sold or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related
accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and any related gain or loss is reflected in net loss for the period.

 
The estimated useful lives of property and equipment are generally as follows:

 
Asset Class   Years  
Office electronics     3 
Equipment     3 
Office furnishings     3 
Production tools     5-7 
Leasehold improvements     Shorter of asset life or life of lease 

 
Intangible Assets

 
The Company records intangible assets related to website development, internally developed software and filing costs of patents. Website
development costs are amortized straight-line over the expected useful life based on the Company’s first-generation website, 24 months. The cost
of filing patents is amortized straight line over the expected legal life of the patents, five years. Costs incurred in connection with computer
software developed for internal use that occur in the preliminary project and post implementation stages are expensed as incurred. Certain costs
incurred in the application stage of a project are capitalized if certain criteria are met. Capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over
two to five years.
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Leases
 

Effective January 1, 2022, the Company adopted ASC 842, Leases. The Company adopted ASC 842 using the effective date method; under this
method, the measurement of the lease liability and the right of use (“ROU”) asset, and any resulting equity impact, was applied at January 1, 2022.
For contracts existing at the time of adoption, the Company elected to not reassess (i) whether any are or contain leases, (ii) lease classification
and (iii) initial direct costs. Furthermore, the Company elected not to use hindsight in determining the lease terms or whether a renewal,
termination or purchase option was reasonably certain to be exercised. When the contracts contain lease and non-lease components, the Company
accounts for both components as a single lease component. Leases with a lease term of 12 months or less are expensed on a straight-line basis over
the lease term in the income statement. The Company determines the lease term by assuming the exercise of renewal options that are reasonably
certain. For operating leases that commenced before the adoption date, the Company used the rate that corresponded to the remaining lease term as
of the date of adoption. As the Company’s leases do not provide an implicit rate, the incremental borrowing rate is used to determine the present
value of lease payments.

 
The determination if an arrangement contains a lease at inception is based on whether the Company has the right to control the asset during the
contract period. The Company is the lessee in a lease contract when the Company obtains the right to control the asset. Lease ROU assets
represent the right to use an underlying asset for the lease term, and lease liabilities represent the obligation to make lease payments arising from
the lease, both of which are recognized based on the present value of the future minimum lease payments over the lease term at the
commencement date. Upon adoption of ASC 842, the Company recorded $11,726,049 of ROU assets and $12,217,158 of lease liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheet. The difference between the ROU assets and lease liabilities is attributed to prepaid and deferred rent balances netted
into ROU assets as well as January 1, 2022 scheduled payments, which reduced the lease liability on the implementation date.

 
See Note 15 for Leases

 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

 
Long-lived assets, including intangible assets subject to amortization, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of
the carrying amount of an asset group to future net undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by that asset group. If such assets are
considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair
value of the assets. No impairment was recorded during the year ended December 31, 2022. An impairment of $487,364 was recorded during the
year ended December 31, 2021 related to property and equipment for product lines. See Note 14.

 
Foreign Currency

 
Transactional gains and losses resulting from transactions denominated in foreign currencies are included in the consolidated statement of
operations within other expense. There was a total of $8,730 and $21,565 recorded for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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Revenue Recognition
 

The Company sells its products through two channels: business-to-consumer sales and business-to- business sales. Business-to-consumer sales
made up approximately 79% and 75% of total sales in 2022 and 2021, respectively.

 
The Company generates substantially all its revenue from sales contracts with customers. While the Company enters into separate sales contracts
with each customer, all sales contracts are similarly structured. These contracts create an obligation to transfer product to the customer. The device
and filters are separate performance obligations. The Company allocates the transaction price to filters based upon their standalone sales price. The
transaction price allocated to the device is estimated based on the residual method, as the devices do not have an established standalone sales price
and are never sold without filters.

 
All performance obligations are satisfied within one year; therefore, costs to obtain contracts are expensed as incurred. There is no financing
component because the Company expects, at contract inception, the period between when the Company transfers product to the customer and
when the customer pays for the product will be less than one year; the Company is entitled to payment at point of sale. The Company defines net
revenues as revenues, net of sales returns, taxes, discounts and allowances. Sales terms allow for the right of return, and the Company has
recorded a related reserve based on historical as well as post year end activity. Customers may, for any reason, return the product within 30 days
for a full refund, excluding shipping charges. The Company establishes a liability for expected returns representing the amount of consideration
the entity does not expect to be entitled to because it will be refunded to customers. The refund liability is remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to revenue.

 
The Company satisfies the performance obligations and records revenues when transfer of control has passed to the customer, based on the terms
of sale. A customer is considered to have control once they are able to direct the use and receive substantially all of the benefits of the product. For
all domestic and Canada sales, the Company determined a customer obtains control of the product upon shipment. For all sales to customers in
Japan and South Korea, the Company determined a customer obtains control of the product when the product has cleared customs. This is when
the title of the product and risk of loss transfers to the customer.

 
Sales taxes collected from customers are not recorded within revenue and are remitted to the taxing authorities periodically. Shipping and handling
are recorded in revenue and cost of revenue on the Statement of Operations and are charged to customers at varying rates. The Company recorded
$244,136 and $446,052 in shipping revenues and $3,350,429 and $5,715,130 in shipping costs for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively.

 
Advertising and Marketing Expenses

 
The Company uses various social media and online platforms as the main driver for creating public awareness about the product and the
Company’s mission. These costs are expensed as they are incurred. Total advertising and marketing expenses for 2022 and 2021 were $9,332,276
and $23,031,279, respectively, and were recorded in operating expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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Stock-Based Compensation
 

The Company’s stock-based awards consist of restricted stock awards and stock options. For stock-based awards issued to employees, the
Company measures the estimated fair value of the stock-based award on the date of grant and recognizes compensation expense for those awards
over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the respective award. The Company issues stock-based awards with only
service-based vesting conditions and records the expense for these awards using the straight-line method. The Company has not issued any stock-
based awards with market-based vesting conditions. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur. The Company classifies stock-based
compensation expense in its consolidated statement of operations in the same manner in which the award recipient’s cash compensation costs are
classified.

 
For stock-based awards granted to nonemployees subject to vesting that only contain service conditions, the Company has elected to recognize
stock-based compensation expense using the straight-line recognition method in the same manner as employees. The fair value of each restricted
stock award is determined based on the number of shares granted and the value of the Company’s Common Stock on the date of grant.

 
Preferred Stock

 
The Company’s preferred shares are assessed at issuance for classification as liability or equity and embedded features requiring bifurcation. The
Company presents outside of permanent equity any preferred stock that (i) the Company undertakes to redeem at a fixed or determinable price on
the fixed or determinable date or dates, whether by operation of a sinking fund or otherwise, (ii) is redeemable at the option of the holders, or
(iii) has conditions for redemption that are not solely within the control of the issuer. The Company’s Preferred Stock is redeemable upon a
Deemed Liquidation Event, which the Company determined is not solely within the Company’s control and thus has classified the preferred shares
as temporary equity until such time as the conditions are removed or lapse.

 
Fair Value Measurements

 
Certain assets and liabilities of the Company are carried at fair value under U.S. GAAP. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be
received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are to be classified and
disclosed in one of the following three levels of the fair value hierarchy, of which the first two are considered observable and the last is considered
unobservable.

 
Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

 
Level 2 Observable inputs (other than Level 1 quoted prices), such as quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices

in markets that are not active for identical or similar assets or liabilities, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by
observable market data.

 
Level 3 Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity that are significant to determining the fair value of the assets or

liabilities, including pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques.
 

A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.
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The Company records certain liabilities at fair value and categorizes them as Level 3 instruments based upon the level of judgment associated with
the inputs used to measure its fair value. Assumptions include the risks inherent in a particular valuation technique (such as a pricing model)
and/or the risk inherent in the inputs to the model.

 
The following table presents information about the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis
as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 by level within the fair value hierarchy:

  
    Fair Value Measured at December 31, 2022 Using  
    Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total  

Liabilities related to:                            
SAFEs   $ -    $ -    $ -    $ - 
Warrants     -      -      325,244      325,244 
Series 2 Preferred Shares     -      -      6,755      6,755 

    $ -    $ -    $ 331,999    $ 331,999 
 

    Fair Value Measured at December 31, 2021 Using  
    Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total  

Liabilities related to:                            
SAFEs   $ -    $ -    $ 20,380,000    $ 20,380,000 
Warrants     -      -      95,544      95,544 

    $ -    $ -    $ 20,475,544    $ 20,475,544 
 

The change in fair value for the period from December 31, 2021, to December 31, 2022 was as follows:
 

    SAFEs     Warrants     Series 2     Total  
Fair value as of December 31, 2021   $ 20,380,000    $ 95,544    $ -    $ 20,475,544 

Fair value upon issuance     -      321,092      14,941,943      15,263,035 
Gain on extinguishment     -      (95,544)     -      (95,544)
Change in fair value     (19,887,368)     4,152      (14,935,188)     (34,818,404)
Loss on settlement     535,960      -      -      535,960 
SAFEs settlement (Note 8)     (1,028,592)     -      -      (1,028,592)

Fair value as of December 31, 2022   $ -    $ 325,244    $ 6,755    $ 331,999 
 

The change in fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis was immaterial for the
year ended December 31, 2021.

 
The Company measures the warrants at fair value by using the Black-Scholes model in each reporting period until they are exercised or expired,
with changes in the fair values being recognized in the Company’s statement of operations as other income (expense). The Company performed a
valuation of the new warrants and determined their fair value to be $288,077 at issuance. The fair value per warrant at December 31, 2022 was
approximately $0.1265 based on the following assumptions: share price of $0.22, exercise price of $0.39, expected annual dividend rate of 0%,
expected volatility of 55%, risk-free interest rate of 3.88% and expected term of 9.67 years.

 
The Company measured the Series 2 Preferred Shares at fair value using an option pricing model for allocation of the Company’s equity value,
based on guideline public company methodology, to the shares considering a weighted average time to exit of 2.5 years as of initial valuation. The
weighted average time to exit considered different exit, financing and dissolution scenarios expected at the time of valuation. The change in fair
value from issuance to December 31, 2022 was largely attributable to the expected change in exit strategy as a result of the AeroClean transaction
discussed in Note 16.
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The fair value of the SAFEs at issuance was determined based upon the cash proceeds received. The SAFEs were subsequently valued at fair
value using a probability weighted expected return method combined with an option pricing model. The two future outcomes considered were a
financing scenario in which the SAFEs automatically converted to Preferred Stock at 80% of the issuance price and a no financing scenario in
which the Company would wind down. The change in the fair value of the SAFEs from December 31, 2021 to May 2022, immediately prior to
their settlement, is primarily attributable to the heavier weighting of the no financing scenario, which was the result of continued losses, operating
cash outflows flows and increasingly limited liquidity throughout the first five months of 2022.

 
Warrants

 
Freestanding Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock warrants that have characteristics that require the warrants to be accounted for as a liability
(“Liability Warrants”) are included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. The Liability
Warrants are subject to remeasurement at each balance sheet date, and any change in fair value is recognized as a component of other income
(expense). The Company will adjust such warrant liability for changes in fair value until the earlier of, (1) the exercise or expiration of the
underlying warrants or (2) the completion of an acquisition event, at which time all Liability Warrants will be exercised pursuant to a cashless
exercise.

 
Freestanding common stock warrants that have characteristics that require the warrants to be accounted for as equity (“Equity Warrants”) are
included in additional paid in capital within stockholders’ equity. The Equity Warrants are recorded at fair value at issuance and do not require
subsequent remeasurement.

 
Income Taxes

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined on the basis of the differences between the consolidated financial statements and tax basis of
assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. Changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recorded in the provision for income taxes. The Company assesses the likelihood that its deferred tax assets will be recovered
from future taxable income and, to the extent it believes, based upon the weight of available evidence, that it is more likely than not that all or a
portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized, a valuation allowance is established.

 
The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions recognized in the consolidated financial statements by prescribing a more-likely-than-not
threshold for financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The provision for
income taxes includes the effects of any resulting tax reserves, or unrecognized tax benefits, that are considered appropriate as well as the related
net interest and penalties.

 
Restructuring

 
The Company recognizes restructuring charges related to plans to exit a product line, exit a market and to realign corporate cost structure. In
connection with these activities, the Company recognizes restructuring charges for employee termination costs, long-lived asset impairment and
other exit-related costs.
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Refer to Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion of restructuring activities.
 
3. Inventory
 

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, inventories consisted of the following:
 

    2022     2021  
Finished goods   $ 15,058,646    $ 9,608,437 
Work in process     3,917,919      3,552,992 
Raw materials     4,704,063      3,267,612 
Inventory-in-transit     2,389,133      8,160,416 
    $ 26,069,761    $ 24,589,457 

 
4. Property and Equipment, Net
 

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, property and equipment, net, consisted of the following:
 

    2022     2021  
Office electronics   $ 900,391    $ 892,202 
Furniture and fixtures     425,735      425,735 
Leasehold improvements     2,762,506      2,784,964 
Production tools and equipment     11,630,537      10,332,300 
      15,719,169      14,435,201 
Less:  Accumulated depreciation     (7,446,103)     (4,752,641)
      8,273,066      9,682,560 
Construction in progress     1,136,043      1,862,891 
    $ 9,409,109    $ 11,545,451 

 
Depreciation expense related to fixed assets was $2,693,462 and $2,825,335 during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

 
5. Intangible Assets, Net
 

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, intangible assets, net, consisted of the following:
 

    2022     2021  
Website   $ 253,245    $ 253,245 
Patents     812,060      756,835 
Domains     24,092      16,328 
Internally-developed software     6,309,706      6,202,825 
      7,399,103      7,229,233 
Less:  Accumulated amortization     (5,433,613)     (4,457,139)
    $ 1,965,490    $ 2,772,094 
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Amortization expense related to intangible assets was $995,249 and $2,146,496 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. At
December 31, 2022, the estimated amortization expense for each of the next five fiscal years was as follows:

 
2023   $ 1,215,981 
2024     620,404 
2025     83,449 
2026     38,373 
2027     7,283 
    $ 1,965,490 

 
6. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities
 

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following:
 

    2022     2021  
Accrued expenses   $ 1,619,964    $ 4,827,718 
Accrued fixed asset purchases     -      964,662 
Refund liability     116,139      451,372 
Warranty reserve     426,787      429,607 
Warrant liability     331,999      95,544 
Other     149,439      1,148,939 
    $ 2,644,328    $ 7,917,842 

 
As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had provisions for warranty of $426,787 and $429,607 and had actual replacements of $83,112
and $250,393 recorded within cost of revenue on the consolidated Statements of Operations, respectively. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the
Company had provisions for refunds of $116,139 and $451,372 and had actual returns of $2,007,729 and $3,779,475 recorded within cost of
revenue on the consolidated Statements of Operations, respectively.

 
7. Notes Payable and Revolving Line of Credit
 

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, notes payable consisted of the following:
 

    2022     2021  
Senior term loan   $ 4,430,556    $ 5,275,000 
Facility term loan     2,649,211      3,584,507 
Mezzanine term loan     30,000,000      30,000,000 
      37,079,767      38,859,507 
Less:  Unamortized debt issuance fees     (722,979)     (817,538)
Less:  Current portion     (2,104,222)     (3,929,176)

Total long-term notes payable   $ 34,252,566    $ 34,112,793 
 

  16  



 

 
Molekule, Inc. and Subsidiary
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022 and 2021
 

Senior Term Loan
 

In June 2016, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement with Silicon Valley Bank. In September 2019, the Company amended the
Loan and Security Agreement with Silicon Valley Bank to add a new term loan and a revolving line of credit. The term loan is for $5,000,000 with
a maturity date of December 2022 and bears interest at a rate equal to the greater of the Prime rate plus 1% or 4.25%. Beginning in January 2020,
equal monthly payments of interest and principal are due until the maturity date.

 
The revolving line of credit allows for a maximum borrowing of $5,000,000; however, the available amount is determined through the borrowing
base that is calculated based on the Company’s eligible receivable and inventory balances. The revolving line of credit bears interest based on a
range of rates from the Prime rate to 5.25%.

 
In March 2020, the maturity date on the Company’s revolving line of credit was extended to March 31, 2021. In June 2020, the revolving line of
credit agreement was further amended to increase the availability from maximum borrowing capacity of $5,000,000 to $15,000,000. In
March 2021, the Company entered into the Third Loan Modification Agreement of its Loan and Security Agreement with Silicon Valley Bank
(“Third LMA”). The Third LMA extended the maturity date of the $15,000,000 revolving line from March 31, 2021 to March 31, 2023. There was
no availability on the revolving line of credit as of December 31, 2021 given that the Company was in violation of certain covenants as disclosed
below. In connection with the Senior Term and Mezzanine Loan and Security Amendments in May 2022, the revolving line of credit was
terminated.

 
The term loan was also amended in June 2020 to increase the principal to $5,100,000 and extend the maturity date to December 31, 2023 with
monthly installments of principal payments commencing on January 1, 2021. As part of the amended term loan agreement, the Company had an
option to borrow an additional $2,500,000 of term debt that, if drawn, will be due on March 1, 2024 with monthly payments of principal
commencing on April 1, 2021. The Company borrowed this $2,500,000 in December 2020. The interest rate of the term loan was 8.27% and
4.25% as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively. As of December 31, 2021, there was a debt discount of $43,109 recorded
related to this debt and no amount was recorded as of December 31, 2022.

 
The amendments made in 2020 to the loan agreement added additional restrictive financial covenants, including maintaining a minimum cash
balance of $2,500,000 if $10,000,000 in equity is not raised by September 30, 2020, maintaining an adjusted quick ratio and meeting set quarterly
revenue targets.

 
The Company was not in compliance with certain financial covenants as of December 31, 2021, September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2022.
Subsequent to December 31, 2021, in May 2022, October 2022 and January 2023, the Company obtained waivers from the bank. Additionally, the
bank amended the financial covenant metrics. In May 2022, the existing covenants were replaced with a quarterly minimum revenue covenant for
the quarters ended September 30, 2022, December 31, 2022 and an annual minimum revenue covenant for 2023. Further, in May 2022, the Loan
and Security Agreement and Mezzanine Agreement were restructured to defer certain of the principal payments. In connection with the
restructuring, the Company issued a warrant to purchase 2,314,219 shares of Series 1 Preferred Stock to the lender. In October 2022, the minimum
revenue covenant was further amended to reduce the revenue required for the quarter ended December 31, 2022 and the year ending December 31,
2023. Further, there was a new requirement to raise $5,000,000 in additional equity by December 31, 2022. As the Company was not in
compliance with the minimum revenue covenant at December 31, 2022, the Company received a waiver from the bank on January 12, 2023 as
well as obtained an amendment to the debt agreement that would not require them to evaluate any revenue minimum covenants until March 31,
2024.
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Facility Term Loan
 

In June 2020, the Company entered into a Facility Term Debt Agreement with a new lender for the ability to draw down up to $5,600,000 related
to funding the Company’s equipment build out of a filter manufacturing plant. The Company drew down $2,898,173 in June 2020, $581,029 in
September 2020, $878,547 in December 2020 and $541,139 in August 2021. The principal payments for the amounts drawn are due over a 42-
month period following the month that the amount is drawn with the last two months’ payments due at the inception of the loan. At the end of the
term, the lender also requires the Company to pay down an additional 10% of the total term draw down amount and restructuring fee, which
results in an additional payment of $489,888 total for all the draws. The additional payment is being accreted to the total outstanding amount over
the term of the loan and resulted in an incremental $489,889 of long-term debt to the lender at December 31, 2022. The interest rate on the debt for
the years ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 was 14.6% for both years. At December 31, 2022, there was a debt discount of
$292,996 recorded related to this debt.

 
The Facility Term Debt Agreement is collateralized by the equipment purchased with the use of the debt. In May 2022, the Facility Term Debt
Agreement was restructured to defer a portion of the principal payments and terminate the line of credit facility. In connection with the
restructuring, the Company issued warrants to purchase 257,135 shares of Series 1 Preferred Stock to the lender with a relative fair value of
$32,524 as of December 31, 2022. The Facility Term Debt Agreement had no financial covenants as of December 31, 2022, and there are no cross-
default provisions with other agreements. In connection with the May 2022 restructuring, an incremental $139,803 was recorded as long-term debt
to the lender. The additional payments are being accreted to the total outstanding amount over the modified term of the loan and resulted in an
additional $23,327 of long term debt to the lender at December 31, 2022.

 
Mezzanine Term Loan

 
In March 2021, the Company entered into a Mezzanine Loan and Security Agreement (“Mezzanine Agreement”) with Silicon Valley Bank. Under
the Mezzanine Agreement, the Company issued a $30 million Mezzanine Term Loan. The Mezzanine Term Loan bears interest at a floating rate
per annum equal to the greater of the Prime rate plus 6.00% or 9.25%. Interest is calculated on the basis of a 360-day year. The loan matures in
March 2025 with monthly payments due on the first of each calendar month. Payments will be interest only for the first 24 months. The primary
purpose of the borrowing is to fund the Company’s working capital needs. Contemporaneously with the borrowing, the Company issued 409,750
warrants to Silicon Valley Bank to purchase common stock of the Company. The Company recorded a discount of $542,581 on the Mezzanine
Term Loan, comprised of $264,093 of fees paid to the lender and $278,488 representing the relative fair value of the warrants issued to Silicon
Valley Bank. As of December 31, 2021, there was an unamortized debt discount of $487,651 related to this debt.

 
The Mezzanine Agreement did not contain any financial covenants as of December 31, 2021 and a cross-default provision was not triggered upon
noncompliance with the financial covenants contained in the Loan and Security Agreement. In May 2022, the Mezzanine Agreement was amended
to incorporate a minimum revenue financial covenant, consistent with the Loan and Security Agreement. As of September 30 2022, the Company
was not in compliance with this financial covenant. Consistent with the senior term loan, the mezzanine term loan was further amended on
October 1, 2022 to decrease the minimum revenue required to comply with the financial covenant. The Mezzanine Term Loan has also been
classified as current as of December 31, 2022 as it is not probable that the covenant will be met as of December 31, 2023 at this time.
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The Loan and Security Agreement and the Mezzanine Agreement were restructured to defer certain of the principal payments. In connection with
the restructuring, the Company issued a warrant to purchase 2,314,219 shares of Series 1 Preferred Stock to the lender with a relative fair value of
$292,720 as of December 31, 2022, replacing the 2021 warrants issued of $278,488. The Company recorded an incremental end of term
restructuring fee of $380,000 as long-term debt to the lender. This additional payment is being accreted to the total outstanding amount over the
modified term of the loan and resulted in an incremental $42,222 of long-term debt to the lender at December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2022,
there was an unamortized debt discount of $448,850 related to this debt.

 
Future payments of notes payable at December 31, 2022, which exclude debt discounts, are as follows:

 
2023   $ 5,854,222 
2024     11,030,294 
2025     12,071,607 
2026     7,063,644 
2027     1,440,000 
      37,459,767 
Less:  Current portion     2,104,222 

Long-term portion   $ 35,355,545 
 
8. SAFE Agreements
 

In November and December 2021, the Company issued SAFEs for gross cash proceeds of $20,380,000. These SAFEs allowed the investors to
participate in future equity financings at a discount. Alternatively, upon the occurrence of a change of control or an initial public offering of the
Company, the investors shall receive the greater of (i) a cash payment equal to two times the invested amount under such SAFE, or (ii) the amount
payable on the number of shares of common stock equal to the invested amount divided by the liquidity price set forth in the applicable SAFE.

 
If there was a dissolution of the Company, the investors would have been entitled to receive the cash payment equal to two times the invested
amount under such SAFE.

 
The SAFEs included a provision allowing for cash redemption upon the occurrence of a change of control, the occurrence of which was outside
the control of the Company. Therefore, the SAFEs were classified as marked-to-market liabilities in other long-term liabilities.

 
In May 2022, in conjunction with a capital raise that authorized the Company to issue up to $40,000,000 of Series 1 Preferred Shares, the terms of
the SAFEs were modified. Concurrent with the modification, all of the SAFEs outstanding were immediately converted into an aggregate of
20,571,841 shares of common stock (see Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Liquidity). The fair value of the SAFEs were
remeasured immediately prior to settlement to $492,632 pursuant to the original terms of the SAFEs resulting in a decrease in fair value of the
SAFEs of $19,887,368 during the year ended December 31, 2022. The gain is recorded in other income in the accompanying consolidated
statement of operations. In addition, the shares of common stock issued to settle the SAFEs were recorded at their fair value of $1,028,592
resulting in an extinguishment loss upon settlement of $535,960, which is recorded in other income in the accompanying consolidated statements
of operations.
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9. Income Taxes
 

Other than minimum state income taxes, the Company did not have income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. The
Company’s effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 differs from the Federal Statutory tax rate primarily due to the
effect of the valuation allowance.

 
The net tax effects of temporary differences that gave rise to the Company’s noncurrent deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2022
and 2021, were as follows:

 
    2022     2021  

Deferred tax assets              
Net operating loss carryforward   $ 45,676,857    $ 38,052,202 
Accruals and reserves     2,187,087      1,493,369 
Stock-based compensation     448,407      163,799 
Credit carryforwards     260,071      222,281 
Section 163(j)     1,614,630      723,189 
Lease liability     2,790,924      - 
Other     424,853      95,580 

Total deferred tax asset     53,402,829      40,750,420 
Deferred tax liabilities              

Fixed and intangible assets     (215,738)     (311,423)
Right of use assets     (2,642,212)     - 

Total deferred tax liabilities     (2,857,950)     (311,423)
Valuation allowance     (50,544,879)     (40,438,997)

Deferred tax asset, net   $ -    $ - 
 

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had $177,109,745 of federal and $103,267,357 of state net operating loss carryforwards available to
offset future taxable income, respectively. As of December 31, 2021, the Company had $150,822,264 of federal and $79,935,822 of state net
operating loss carryforwards available to offset future taxable income, respectively. If not utilized, federal and state net operating loss
carryforwards will begin expiring in 2037.

 
The Company has established a valuation allowance to offset deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 due to the uncertainty of
realizing future tax benefits from its net operating loss carryforwards and other deferred tax assets. The Company had recorded a valuation
allowance of $50,544,879 and $40,438,997 as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The valuation allowance increased by $10,105,882
and $17,081,565 during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

 
As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had research and development credit carryforwards of $240,364 and $279,779 and $197,456
and $119,437 available to reduce future taxable income, if any, for federal and state income tax purposes, respectively. If not utilized, the federal
credit carryforwards will begin expiring in 2037, while the state research and development credits have no expiration. As of December 31, 2022
and 2021, the Company maintained a full valuation reserve against these credits, as the ability of the Company to utilize these credits has not met
the more-than-likely threshold.

 

  20  



 

 
 
Molekule, Inc. and Subsidiary
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022 and 2021
 

Utilization of the net operating loss and research and development credit carryforwards may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to
ownership change limitations that may have occurred or that could occur in the future, as required by Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, as well as similar state and foreign provisions. The annual limitation may result in the expiration of these
carryforwards before utilization.

 
The Company attributes net revenue, costs and expenses to domestic and foreign components based on the terms of the agreements with its
foreign subsidiary. The Company does not provide for federal income taxes on the undistributed earnings of its foreign subsidiary, as such
earnings are to be reinvested offshore indefinitely. If these earnings were repatriated, the resulting income tax liability would be insignificant.

 
No liability related to uncertain tax positions is recorded on the financial statements. It is the Company’s policy to include penalties and interest
expense related to income taxes as a component of other expense and interest expense, respectively, as necessary. The uncertain tax benefits for
the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 remained at $260,272 and $222,282, respectively.

 
10. Commitments and Contingencies
 

Licensing Agreement
 
In 2015, the Company entered into a licensing agreement with a third party to provide for royalties on net sales in exchange for the use of a patent
that is used in the Company’s device. The royalty is earned as of the date the licensed product is sold and paid for. Royalties are set at 1.0 percent
of net sales up to $10 million; reduced to 0.75 percent for net sales between $10 million and $50 million; and reduced to 0.5 percent for net sales
in excess of $50 million. Royalty expense amounted to $280,146 and $331,488 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and
is included in cost of revenue on the consolidated statement of operations. The Company had $63,830 and $162,958 in accrued expenses due to
the third party as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

 
Litigation and Indemnification
 
From time to time, the Company may be a party to litigation and subject to claims that arise in the normal course of business. Significant judgment
is required when the Company assesses the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes to a potential claim or legal proceeding, as well as
potential ranges of probable losses and when the outcomes of the claims or proceedings are probable and reasonably estimable. Because of
uncertainties related to these matters, the Company bases its estimates on the information available at the time. As additional information becomes
available, the Company reassesses the potential liability related to pending claims and litigation and may revise its estimates. Any revisions in the
estimates of potential liabilities could have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

 
In November 2020, the Company was named as the defendant in a class-action complaint in which the plaintiffs alleged that the Company
misrepresented the capabilities of its products. The Company denied all allegations made by the plaintiffs. Without admitting any liability and
solely for the purpose of eliminating the uncertainties and expenses of further protracted litigation, the Company entered into a class-wide
settlement of this matter, where the class was defined to include purchasers who bought Molekule devices from third-party retailers (e.g. Amazon,
Best Buy). The settlement required dismissal of all remaining class- action claims against the Company. The Court approved this settlement and
entered judgment in the matter on January 25, 2022. The settlement is currently being administered with the cash settlement payment made in
March 2022 of $1,300,000. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company accrued a loss liability of $1,400,000 and $2.700,000, respectively,
related to this matter.
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The Company enters into agreements with its customers, business partners and other parties in the ordinary course of business that include
provisions for the indemnification, holding harmless and defense of indemnified parties of varying scope and terms with respect to certain matters,
including, but not limited to, losses arising out of the Company’s breach of such agreements and out of third-party IP infringement claims. In these
circumstances, payment by the Company may be conditional on the other party making a claim pursuant to the procedures specified in the
particular contract. In addition, the Company has indemnification agreements with its directors and executive officers. As of December 31, 2022,
the Company had other accrued liabilities related to other legal matters.

 
11. Equity
 

Common Stock
 

On February 11, 2015, the date of incorporation, the Company was authorized to issue 2,000,000 shares of Common Stock with a par value of
$0.0001 per share. On June 12, 2018, the certificate of incorporation was amended to increase the number of shares authorized to 45,523,955,
consisting of 6,700,000 shares of Common Stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share and 38,823,955 shares of Preferred Stock, par value
$0.0001 per share.

 
On February 21, 2019, the Company amended the certificate of incorporation to increase the number of shares authorized to 54,591,896,
consisting of 8,500,000 shares of Common Stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share and 46,091,896 shares of Preferred Stock, par value of
$0.0001 per share.

 
On November 5, 2019, the certificate of incorporation was further amended to increase the number of shares authorized to 67,711,527, consisting
of 9,600,000 shares of Common Stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share and 58,111,527 shares of Preferred Stock, par value of $0.0001 per
share.

 
On April 28, 2020 the certificate of incorporation was further amended to increase the number of shares authorized to 76,071,527, consisting of
10,360,000 shares of Common Stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share and 65,711,527 shares of Preferred Stock, par value of $0.0001 per
share.

 
On May 26, 2020, the certificate of incorporation was further amended to increase the number of shares authorized to 79,921,527, consisting of
10,710,000 shares of Common Stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share and 69,211,527 shares of Preferred Stock, par value of $0.0001 per
share.

 
The holders of Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each share of Common Stock at all meetings of stockholders.
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On May 19, 2022, the Company effected a one-for-ten reverse stock split of all outstanding common stock. At the effective time of the reverse
stock split, every ten shares of issued and outstanding common stock was automatically combined and reclassified into one issued and outstanding
share of common stock. No fractional shares of common stock were issued and each holder of common stock who would otherwise have been
entitled to a fraction of a share of common stock received a cash payment. In addition, as a result of the reverse stock split, proportionate
adjustments were made to the per share exercise price and/or the number of shares issuable upon the exercise or vesting of all stock options,
restricted stock awards and warrants issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the reverse stock split, which resulted in a
proportionate decrease in the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance upon exercise or vesting of such stock options, restricted
stock awards and warrants, and, in the case of stock options and warrants, a proportionate increase in the exercise price of all such stock options
and warrants. The number of shares reserved for issuance under the Company’s Stock Plan immediately prior to the effective time of the reverse
stock split was reduced proportionately. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been retrospectively adjusted to reflect this
reverse stock split for all periods presented.

 
Series 1 Preferred Shares
 
The Company issued 82,313,740 Series 1 Preferred Shares as of December 31, 2022.

 
The Series 1 Preferred Shares have voting rights, are convertible into Common Stock and are entitled to receive dividends. The Series 1 Preferred
Shares have a liquidation preference that is senior to all other capital stock.

 
The Company determined that the Series 1 Preferred Shares were freestanding financial instruments as they are legally detachable and separately
exercisable from the Series 2 Preferred Shares. Furthermore, the Company determined that the Series 1 Preferred Shares are classified as
temporary equity in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

 
Since the Series 1 Preferred Shares and Series 2 Preferred Shares were issued together, the total proceeds of $32,011,818 were allocated using the
residual value method. As such, Series 1 Preferred Shares were allocated the residual proceeds of $17,069,898 after the allocation to Series 2
Preferred Shares was made. In addition, the Company recognized $117,439 of issuance costs at the date of inception as a reduction in the proceeds
of the stock and it is considered a component of the discount for the issuance of preferred stock. As of December 31, 2022, no amortization of the
stock issuance costs was recognized.

 
Series 2 Preferred Shares
 
Concurrently with the issuance of the Series 1 Preferred Shares, the Company issued 67,551,802 Series 2 Preferred Shares as of December 31,
2022.

 
The Series 2 Preferred Shares are non-voting are not convertible into Common Stock and are not entitled to receive dividends. The Series 2
Preferred Shares have a liquidation preference per share equal to $1.00, which is junior to the liquidation preference of the Series 1 Preferred
Shares. If the Series 1 Preferred Shares are automatically converted into Common Stock, then the Series 2 Preferred Shares will automatically be
redeemed at their par value of $0.0001. The Series 2 Preferred Shares were issued to encourage the existing investors to participate in investing in
the Series 1 Preferred.

 
The Company determined that the Series 2 Preferred Shares were freestanding financial instruments as they are legally detachable and separately
exercisable from the Series 1 Preferred Shares. Furthermore, the Company determined that the Series 2 Preferred Shares were derivative liabilities
as they met the definition of a derivative. Thus, the Company recorded the Series 2 Preferred Shares initially at fair value as derivative liabilities
on the consolidated balance sheet.
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Subsequent changes in fair value of the Series 2 Preferred Shares are recognized as changes in fair value of derivative liabilities within other
income (expense) on the consolidated statement of operations. The Company recorded the Series 2 Preferred Shares at the fair value of
$14,941,227 at the date of inception. In addition, the Company expensed $176,162 of issuance costs at the date of inception. As of December 31,
2022, the Series 2 Preferred Shares had a fair value of $6,754. The Company recorded the decrease in fair value of the Series 2 Preferred Shares of
$14,935,188 during the period ended December 31, 2022 in other income in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations

 
The holders of the Company’s outstanding preferred stock had the following rights, preferences, and privileges:

 
Dividends
 
The Series 1 Preferred Shares are entitled to receive non-cumulative preferential dividends. The holders of shares of preferred stock, in preference
to the holders of common stock, are entitled to receive, on a pari passu basis, when, as and if declared by the board of directors (out of funds
legally available therefore, noncumulative cash dividends at the rate of 6% of the original issue price per annum on each outstanding share of
preferred stock). So long as any shares of preferred stock are outstanding, the Company shall not pay or set aside any dividends on shares of any
other class or series of capital stock of the Company (other than dividends on shares of common stock payable in shares of common stock) in any
calendar year. After the dividends on the preferred stock have been paid in any calendar year, then the Company may declare dividends out of
funds legally available in that calendar year, then additional dividends shall be declared pro rata on the common stock and the preferred stock on a
pari passu basis according to the number of shares of common stock held by such holders. The original issue price of the Series 1 Preferred Shares
was $0.3889 per share. The Series 2 Preferred Shares are not entitled to receive dividends.

 
Liquidation Preference and Redemption
 
The Series 1 Preferred Shares and Series 2 Preferred Shares are mandatorily redeemable upon an event of any liquidation or winding up of the
Company or a Change in Control (i.e., a merger, acquisition, sale of voting control, or sale of substantially all of the assets of the Company) shall
be deemed to be a liquidation. In the event of any liquidation or deemed liquidation of the Company, the holders of the Series 1 Preferred Shares
shall be entitled to receive in preference to the holders of the Series 2 Preferred Shares and Common Stock a per share amount equal to the
original issue price plus any declared but unpaid dividends (the “Preferred Stock Liquidation Preference”). After the payment of the Preferred
Stock Liquidation Preference, the holders of Series 2 Preferred Shares shall be entitled to receive in preference to the holders of the Common
Stock a per share amount equal to the Series 2 Preference Amount (i.e., liquidation preference per share equal to $1.00). After the payment of the
Preferred Stock Liquidation Preference to the holders of the Series 1 Preferred Shares and the Series 2 Preference Amount to the holders of
Series 2 Preferred Shares, the remaining assets shall be distributed ratably to the holders of the common stock. Additionally, upon the automatic
conversion of the Series 1 Preferred Shares (i.e., either upon a Qualified IPO or vote of the majority of the Series 1 Preferred shareholders), the
Company shall redeem all outstanding Series 2 Preferred Shares at a redemption price equal to the par value (i.e., $0.0001) for such shares.
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Conversion
 
The Series 1 Preferred Shares shall automatically convert into common stock upon either (i) the closing of a firmly underwritten public offering of
shares of common stock of the Company or a total offering of not less than $50 million (before deduction of underwriters commissions and
expenses) and in connection with such offering the common stock is listed for trading on the Nasdaq Stock Market’s National Market, the New
York Stock Exchange or another exchange or marketplace approved by the requisite approval from the Company’s Board of Directors (a
“Qualified IPO”), or (ii) separately, the Series 1 Preferred Shares shall convert into common stock as elected by a vote of the majority of the
holders of the Series 1 Preferred Shares. Additionally, the Series 1 Preferred Shares are optionally convertible into shares of common stock at any
time at the election of each holder. The initial conversion rate shall be 1:1, subject to adjustment. The conversion price of the Series 1 Preferred
Shares will be subject to a weighted-average adjustment to reduce dilution in the event that the Company issues additional equity securities, other
than exceptions. The Series 2 Preferred Shares are not convertible.

 
Voting

 
The Series 1 Preferred Shares will vote together with the common stock on an as-converted basis, and not as a separate class, except as
specifically provided by the Company’s governance documents or as otherwise required by law. The Series 2 Preferred Shares are non-voting.

 
Warrants

 
As a result of the Equity Recapitalization, proportionate adjustments were automatically made to the per share exercise price and/or the number of
shares issuable upon the exercise of all warrants issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Equity Recapitalization,
which resulted in a proportionate decrease in the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance upon exercise of warrants, and, in the
case of warrants, a proportionate increase in the exercise price of all such warrants.

 
In connection with the issuance of the Loan and Security Agreement (Note 7) entered in June 2016, warrants were issued to the Lender to
purchase 56,701 shares of Series Seed Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $0.6618 per share. The warrants have a 10-year expiration date. The
Company determined the warrants for Series Seed Preferred Stock are detachable freestanding liabilities as the underlying shares are conditionally
redeemable. Thus, the Company recorded the warrants initially at fair value as derivative liabilities determined using the Black Scholes valuation
model on the consolidated balance sheet. Subsequent changes in fair value of the warrants are recognized as changes in fair value of derivative
liabilities on the consolidated statement of operations. At December 31, 2021, there was $54,114 of warrant liability recorded within accrued
expenses and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. In May 2022, the warrant was terminated and the Company recognized a
$35,219 gain on extinguishment.

 
In September 2019, in connection with the amendment of the Loan and Security Agreement (Note 7), warrants were issued to the Lender to
purchase 54,348 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.99 per share. The warrants have a 10-year expiration date. The Company
determined the warrants for common stock are detachable freestanding instruments that are classified as equity, as the warrants are indexed to the
Company’s own equity. Thus, the Company recorded the warrants at the fair value of $53,805, which was determined using the Black-Scholes
valuation model. In May 2022, the warrant was terminated and the Company recognized a $53,805 gain on extinguishment with an offset to
additional paid in capital.

 
In June 2020, in connection with the amendment of the Loan and Security Agreement (Note 7), warrants were issued to the Lender to purchase
109,428 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.99 per share. The warrants have a 10-year expiration date. The Company determined
the warrants for common stock are detachable freestanding instruments that are classified as equity, as the warrants are indexed to the Company’s
own equity. Thus, the Company recorded the warrants at the fair value of $75,440, which was determined using the Black-Scholes valuation
model. In May 2022, the warrant was terminated and the Company recognized a $75,440 gain on extinguishment with an offset to additional paid
in capital.
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In March 2021, in connection with the Mezzanine Agreement (Note 7), warrants were issued to the Lender to purchase 409,750 shares of
Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.07 per share. The warrants have a 10-year expiration date. The Company determined the warrants for
common stock are detachable freestanding instruments that are classified as equity, as the warrants are indexed to the Company’s own equity.
Thus, the Company recorded the warrants at the fair value of $278,488, which was determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model. In
May 2022, as a result of the Equity Recapitalization, the Lender agreed to modify the terms of the Mezzanine Term Loan, and the Company
agreed to issue new warrants to purchase Series 1 Preferred Shares. The new warrants were issued to the Lender to purchase 2,314,219 Series 1
Preferred Shares at an exercise price of $0.3889 per share. The warrants have a 10-year expiration date. The new warrants to purchase Series 1
Preferred Shares are detachable freestanding instruments that are classified as liabilities as the underlying shares are conditionally redeemable. As
the original warrants were issued contemporaneously with the original debt, and the new warrants were issued contemporaneously with the
modified debt, the Company determined that it had exchanged the new instrument for the old instrument in connection with a debt modification.
The Company performed a valuation of the new warrants and determined their fair value to be $288,077. As the Company modified the warrants
in connection with the debt modification and previously recorded a discount of $278,488 on the Mezzanine Term Loan equal to the relative fair
value of the original warrants in comparison to the debt amount it recorded the incremental fair value of the modified warrants as an additional
discount on the Mezzanine Term Loans by derecognizing the $278,488 previously recognized as additional paid in capital and recognizing a
$288,077 warrant liability and a $9,589 incremental amount to debt discount, which is recorded as a fee paid to the lender to be amortized over the
remaining term of the debt. The total fair value of the new warrants is recorded as a liability, and the old warrants recorded in additional paid-in
capital have been derecognized. The warrant liability will be remeasured each reporting period with changes recognized in earnings and totaled
$292,720 at December 31, 2022.

 
In connection with the issuance of the Facility Term Debt Agreement (Note 7) entered in June 2020, warrants were issued to the lender to purchase
32,051 shares of Series C-1 Preferred Stock at a price of $3.12 per share. The warrants have a 10-year expiration date. The Company determined
the warrants for Series C-1 Preferred Stock are detachable freestanding liabilities as the underlying shares are conditionally redeemable. Thus, the
Company recorded the warrants initially at fair value as derivative liabilities determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model on the
consolidated balance sheet. Subsequent changes in fair value of the warrants are recognized as changes in fair value of derivative liabilities on the
consolidated statement of operations. At December 31, 2021, there was $60,325 of warrant liability recorded within accrued expenses and other
current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. In May 2022, the warrant was terminated and the Company recognized a $60,325 gain on
extinguishment.

 
In June 2022, as a result of the Equity Recapitalization, the lender agreed to modify the terms of the Facility Term Debt Agreement, and the
Company agreed to issue new warrants to purchase Series 1 Preferred Shares. The new warrants were issued to the lender to purchase 257,135 of
Series 1 Preferred Shares at an exercise price of $0.3889 per share. The warrants have a 10-year expiration date. The new warrants to purchase
Series 1 Preferred Shares are detachable freestanding instruments that are classified as liabilities as the underlying shares are conditionally
redeemable. As the new warrants were issued contemporaneously with an amendment to the Facility Term Debt Agreement, the Company
determined that it had issued the new warrants in connection with a debt restructuring.
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As of December 31, 2022, 2,571,354 of the liability classified warrants outstanding were exercisable into Series 1 Preferred Shares for an exercise
price of $0.3889 per share. There were 2,571,354 and 662,278 warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021,
respectively. The warrant liability was $325,244 and $95,544 as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively.

 
Preferred Stock

 
As discussed above, in May 2022, the Series seed, Series A, Series B, Series C, and Series C-1 Preferred Stock were converted into common stock
at a ratio of ten (10) shares of preferred stock to one (1) share of common stock.

 
12. Stock-Based Compensation
 

Equity Incentive Plan
 

The Company’s Stock Plan (the “Plan”), provides for the Company to issue restricted stock awards (“RSA”) and stock options. Incentive Stock
Options (“ISO”) may be granted only to the Company’s employees, officers and members of the Board. RSAs and nonqualified stock options
(“NQ”) may be granted to employees, members of the Board and consultants of the Company. As amended in June 2018, the Company is
authorized to issue up to 1,168,927 shares of common stock under the Plan. As amended in November 2019, the Company increased the reserve
and is authorized to issue up to 2,338,626 shares of common stock under the Plan. As amended in September 2021, the Company increased the
reserve and is authorized to issue up to 2,752,625 shares of common stock under the Plan. In May 2022, in conjunction with a capital raise that
authorized the Company to issue up to $40,000,000 of Series 1 Preferred Shares (see Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies -
Liquidity) and as a condition to the capital raise, the certificate of incorporation was amended to increase the number of authorized shares of
common stock available for issuance under the Plan up to 22,953,622 shares of common stock. As of September 30, 2022, a total of 20,822,047
shares remain available for future grant under the Plan.

 
In addition, as a result of the Equity Recapitalization, proportionate adjustments were automatically made to the per share exercise price and/or the
number of shares issuable upon the exercise or vesting of all stock options, and restricted stock awards issued and outstanding immediately prior
to the effective time of the Equity Recapitalization, which resulted in a proportionate decrease in the number of shares of common stock reserved
for issuance upon exercise or vesting of such stock options, and restricted stock awards, and, in the case of stock options, a proportionate increase
in the exercise price of all such stock options. The number of shares reserved for issuance under the Plan immediately prior to the effective time of
the Equity Recapitalization was reduced proportionately. The change in the terms of Molekule’s stock option awards were analyzed as a
modification since it resulted from an equity restructuring. However, the Company determined that the fair value of the stock options immediately
before the modification equaled their fair value immediately after the modification since the number of options and exercise price were
proportionally changed and all other valuation assumptions (i.e., expected volatility, expected term, dividend yield, and risk free rate) remained
constant before and after the modification. Additionally, the vesting conditions of the modified award were the same as the vesting conditions of
the original award immediately before the original award was modified and there was no change to the classification of the stock options as there
were no changes to the settlement or other provisions of the awards that would result in a change in classification.
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Stock Options
 

The exercise price for stock options is at least 100% of the fair market value on the date of grant for shareholders owning less than 10% of the
voting power of all classes of stock, or at least 110% of the fair market value for shareholders owning more than 10% of the voting power of all
classes of stock. Options generally expire in 10 years and vest over periods determined by the Board, generally 48 months with a one- year vesting
cliff for new employees. Options granted to a 10% stakeholder shall be exercisable for five years.

 
The Company’s stock option compensation expense was $1,449,074 and $1,834,203 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, with an
unamortized expense of $3,006,147 and $5,144,814 to be amortized over a weighted-average period of 2.4 years and 3.02 years, respectively.

 
The fair value of each stock option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Company
determined the volatility for awards granted based on an analysis of reported data for a group of guideline companies that issued options with
substantially similar terms. The expected volatility has been determined using a weighted-average of the historical volatility measures of this
group of guideline companies. The expected term of the Company’s stock options has been determined utilizing the simplified method for awards
that qualify as plain-vanilla options. The risk-free interest rate is determined by reference to the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of
grant of the award for time periods approximately equal to the expected term of the award. The Company has not paid, and does not anticipate
paying, cash dividends on its common stock; therefore, the expected dividend yield is assumed to be zero.

 
The weighted-average assumptions that the Company used to determine the grant-date fair value of stock options granted to participants during the
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

 
    2022     2021  

Exercise price   $ 10.80    $ 10.80 
Expected term (in years)     5.56      6.02 
Risk-free interest rate     1.60%    0.01%
Dividend yield     -      - 
Volatility     49.62%    48.55%
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A summary of option activity under the Plan as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 and the changes during the years then ended, is presented below:
 

          Weighted-     Weighted-        
    Number of     Average     Average     Contractual  
    Options     Exercise     Grant Date     Term  
    Outstanding     Price     Fair Value     (Years)  

Balances at December 31, 2020     1,650,432    $ 9.20    $ 1.70      9.29 
Granted     1,191,408      10.80      5.00        
Exercised     (17,394)     8.40      3.50        
Forfeited     (546,563)     10.40      4.60        
Expired     (30,366)     9.40      3.90        
Balances at December 31, 2021     2,247,517      9.71      4.20      7.56 
Granted     114,350      10.80      5.17        
Exercised     (1,884)     6.13      2.67        
Forfeited     (202,086)     10.63      4.82        
Expired     (300,979)     8.68      4.08        
Balances at December 31, 2022     1,856,918    $ 9.87    $ 4.50      6.90 
Options vested and expected to vest, as of December 31, 2022     1,856,918    $ 9.87    $ 4.50      6.90 
Options vested and exercisable, as of December 31, 2022     1,609,960    $ 9.74    $ 4.67      6.65 

 
The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options granted was $5.17 and $5.00 per option during the years ended December 31, 2022
and 2021, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company received $11,502 and $261,836 in cash consideration
from the exercise of share options and realized a tax benefit of $2,415 and $54,986 for the exercise of those same options, respectively. The
aggregate intrinsic value for the options outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $1,733,703 and $2,419,603, respectively.

 
13. Defined Contribution Plans
 

The Company established a defined contribution savings plan under Section 401(k) of the IRC. This plan covers substantially all employees who
meet minimum age and service requirements and allows participants to defer a portion of their annual compensation on a pre-tax basis. The
Company made matching contributions of $392,285 and $709,072 to the plan during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

 

  29  



 

 
Molekule, Inc. and Subsidiary
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022 and 2021
 
14. Restructuring Charges
 

In order to support the Company’s strategy and build a sustainable organization, the Company identified certain structural changes to restructure
the business. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized $4,745,057 of restructuring and other impairment charges on
the statement of operations. As of December 31, 2022, no additional costs are expected to be incurred in connection with the restructuring activity.
These changes were primarily related to the discontinuance of the Air and Air Mini Basic product line and a one time employee severance charges
from a reduction in force. These charges include:

 
    2021  

Contract termination costs with suppliers   $ 3,142,875 
Impairment charges     487,364 
Prepaid asset write off for materials     236,888 
Employee severance     877,930 
    $ 4,745,057 

 
As of December 31, 2022, there was no restructuring liability. As of December 31, 2021, there was $3,587,021 of restructuring liability recorded
on the balance sheet comprised of the total balance of contract termination costs and $444,146 of employee severance.

 
15. Leases
 

The Company is party to operating lease agreements for corporate office and warehouse space in locations in the United States. The Company is
also party to a limited number of short-term operating leases. Operating lease costs are recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. As
of December 31, 2022, the Company had operating right-of-use assets of $9,806,322 and operating lease liabilities of $10,358,254.

 
The Company’s leases have remaining non-cancelable lease terms of one year to four years. Some lease agreements include options to renew, with
renewal terms extending up to five years. The exercise of renewal options is based on the judgment of management as to whether or not the
renewal options are reasonably certain to be exercised. During 2022, operating lease expenses were $3,318,041 and cash paid for amounts
included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities was $3,248,837. There was $2,611,964 of lease expense for the year ended
December 31, 2021.

 
The weighted-average remaining lease term and discount rate for lease liabilities included in the consolidated balance sheets are as follows:

 
Weighted average remaining lease term (years)     3.70 
Weighted average discount rate     11.00%
        
Other information related to leases was as follows:       
        
Operating cash flows from operating leases   $ 3,248,837 
ROU assets received in exchange for operating liabilities     - 
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Future minimum lease payments under noncancellable operating leases as of December 31, 2022 were as follows:
 

2023   $ 3,342,899 
2024     3,439,769 
2025     3,539,718 
2026     2,206,401 
      12,528,787 
Less:  Discount to PV     (2,170,533)

Net minimum lease payments   $ 10,358,254 
 
16. Subsequent Events
 

On January 12, 2023, the Company completed the previously announced merger with Aeroclean, Inc., whereby Aeroclean was determined to be
the accounting acquirer. As a result of this merger, Molekule has continued as the surviving entity and a wholly owned subsidiary of Molekule
Group, Inc. (formerly known as Aeroclean, Inc.). In connection with the merger, all outstanding Series 1 Preferred Shares and Preferred Stock
warrants converted to the Company’s common stock. The Company’s common stock then converted into shares of Molekule Group, Inc. common
stock at a conversion rate of .1343 of Molekule Group, Inc. to 1 share of the Company. The Series 2 Preferred Shares were redeemed at a price of
$0.0001 per share.

 
The Company evaluates events or transactions that occur after the balance sheet date but before the financial statements are issued for potential
recognition or disclosure in the financial statements. The Company has evaluated all subsequent events through June 07, 2023, the date the
financial statements were available for issuance, and no items, other than as disclosed in these notes to financial statements, were noted that need
to be disclosed.
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Exhibit 99.2

 
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
On January 12, 2023, Molekule Group, Inc. (f/k/a AeroClean Technologies, Inc.), a Delaware corporation (“Molekule”), completed its previously

announced acquisition of Molekule, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Legacy Molekule”), pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of
October 3, 2022 (the “Molekule Merger Agreement”) by and among Molekule, Air King Merger Sub Inc., a Delaware corporation and direct wholly owned
subsidiary of Molekule (“Molekule Merger Sub”), and Legacy Molekule. Pursuant to the Molekule Merger Agreement, Molekule Merger Sub merged with
and into Legacy Molekule, with Legacy Molekule continuing as the surviving entity and a wholly owned subsidiary of Molekule (the “Molekule Merger”).
In connection with the closing of the Molekule Merger, Molekule changed its name from “AeroClean Technologies, Inc.” to “Molekule Group, Inc.”
 

At the effective time of the Molekule Merger, the outstanding shares of Legacy Molekule common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, that were issued
and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Molekule Merger were converted automatically into, and the holders of such shares were
entitled to receive, by virtue of the Molekule Merger and upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Molekule Merger Agreement,
14,907,210 fully paid and nonassessable shares of Molekule Common Stock (the “Molekule Merger Consideration”).
 

At the effective time of the Molekule Merger, each in-the-money Legacy Molekule warrant, by virtue of the Molekule Merger and without further
action on the part of the holder thereof, converted into the right to receive, for each share of Legacy Molekule common stock subject to such in-the-money
Legacy Molekule warrant (including shares of Legacy Molekule common stock issuable upon conversion of any Legacy Molekule preferred stock issuable
upon exercise of any Legacy Molekule warrant), a portion of the Molekule Merger Consideration equal to the Molekule Merger Consideration that would
have been payable in respect of such share had such in-the-money Legacy Molekule warrant been exercised immediately prior to the effective time of the
Molekule Merger less the exercise price with respect to such warrant. Each Legacy Molekule warrant issued and outstanding as of the effective time of the
Molekule Merger that was not an in-the-money Legacy Molekule warrant was automatically cancelled and terminated for no consideration immediately
prior to the effective time of the Molekule Merger.
 

At the effective time of the Molekule Merger, each outstanding option to acquire Legacy Molekule common stock was cancelled and terminated for no
consideration. Any shares of Legacy Molekule common stock that were available for issuance pursuant to Legacy Molekule’s 2015 stock plan (the
“Residual Shares”) were converted at the effective time of the Molekule Merger into the number of shares of Molekule Common Stock equal to the product
of the number of such Residual Shares and the exchange ratio determined in accordance with the Molekule Merger Agreement.
 

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations should be read in conjunction with the separate historical financial statements
and accompanying notes of Molekule and Legacy Molekule as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022.
 

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations are based on and have been derived from Molekule’s and Legacy Molekule’s
audited historical financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of
operations were prepared in accordance with Article 8 of Regulation S-X using the assumptions set forth in the notes hereto and transaction accounting
adjustments that reflect the application of accounting required by U.S. GAAP, including the effects of the Molekule Merger. The unaudited pro forma
condensed combined have been prepared on the basis that Molekule is the acquirer for accounting purposes. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined
financial statements do not include a pro forma balance sheet as the Molekule Merger is reflected in the most recent historical balance sheet as of March
31, 2023 filed in Molekule’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period then ended. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements do not
include a pro forma statement of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2023 as the results of Legacy Molekule are included in Molekule's
results of operations from the date of acquisition, January 12, 2023. Molekule does not believe that the results of Legacy Molekule's operations for the
period from January 1, 2023 through January 11, 2023 are material to the consolidated results of operations of Molekule for the period ended March 31,
2023.
 

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 gives effect to the Molekule
Merger as if it had occurred on January 1, 2022. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations are for illustrative and
informational purposes only and are not intended to represent what Molekule’s results of operations would have been had the Molekule Merger occurred on
the dates indicated. The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information and related notes have been derived from and should be
read in conjunction with (i) the historical financial statements of Molekule and the related notes included elsewhere herein and (ii) the historical financial
statements of Legacy Molekule and the related notes included elsewhere herein.
 

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations gives pro forma effect to the consummation of the Molekule Merger on the
terms provided for in the Molekule Merger Agreement, and the unaudited pro forma adjustments reflect adjustments related to (1) the application of the
acquisition method of accounting in connection with the Molekule Merger and (2) the preliminary fair value estimate of assets to be acquired and liabilities
to be assumed. The Molekule Merger is subject to closing adjustments that represent management’s estimates based on information available as of the date
of these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements and that are subject to change as additional information becomes available and
analyses are performed. Accordingly, the pro forma adjustments are preliminary and have been made solely for the purpose of providing unaudited pro
forma condensed combined statement of operations as required by SEC rules. Differences between these preliminary estimates and the final merger
accounting may be material. The pro forma financial information does not give effect to the potential impact of current financial conditions or any
anticipated revenue enhancements, cost savings or operating synergies that may result from the Molekule Merger.
 

 



 
 

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

 

   
Historical

Molekule(a)    
Historical

Legacy Molekule(b)   
Reclassification

Adjustments    

Transaction
Accounting

Adjustments    

Pro Forma
Condensed
Combined  

Product revenues   $ 227,186    $ 48,028,194    $     $     $ 48,255,380 
Cost of sales     112,559      32,476,891                   32,589,450 

Gross profit     114,628      15,551,303                    15,665,931 
Operating expenses:                                   

Selling, general and administrative     15,453,261      —      47,636,365(c)    989,702(d)    64,079,328 
Research and development     1,954,552      —      701,206(c)           2,655,758 
General, administrative, research and

development     —      38,948,195      (38,948,195
)
(c)           — 

Sales, marketing and advertising     —      9,389,376      (9,389,376
)
(c)           — 

Total operating expenses     17,407,813      48,337,571             (989,702)     66,735,086 
Operating loss     (17,293,185)     (32,786,268)            (989,702)     (51,069,155)
Change in fair value of warrant liability     (10,623,000)     —                    (10,623,000)
Other income (expense):                                   

Other income     —      35,510,107                    35,510,107 
Other expense     —      (159,645)                   (159,645)
Interest expense     —      (4,116,425)                   (4,116,425)

Total other income (expense)     —      31,234,037                    31,234,037 
Loss before income tax benefit     (6,670,185)     (1,552,231)            (989,702)     (9,212,118)
Income tax benefit     (501,254)     —                    (501,254)
Net loss   $ (6,168,931)   $ (1,552,231)   $ —    $ (989,702)   $ (8,710,864)
Net loss per share-basic   $ (0.42)   $ —                  $ (0.29 
Weighted-average common shares

outstanding:                                   
Basic and diluted     14,676,369      —             15,431,198(e)    30,107,567 
 

See the accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations, which are an integral part hereof. The pro forma
adjustments are explained in the notes below.
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NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA
CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

 
Note 1. Description of the Transaction
 

On October 3, 2022, Molekule, Legacy Molekule and Molekule Merger Sub entered into the Molekule Merger Agreement, pursuant to which they
agreed to combine in an all-stock transaction. Pursuant to the Molekule Merger Agreement, on January 12, 2023, Merger Sub merged with and into Legacy
Molekule, with Legacy Molekule continuing as the surviving entity and a wholly owned subsidiary of Molekule. In connection with the closing of the
Molekule Merger, Molekule changed its name from “AeroClean Technologies, Inc.” to “Molekule Group, Inc.”
 

At the effective time of the Molekule Merger, the outstanding shares of Legacy Molekule common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, that were issued
and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Molekule Merger were converted automatically into, and the holders of such shares were
entitled to receive, by virtue of the Molekule Merger and upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Molekule Merger Agreement,
14,907,210 fully paid and nonassessable shares of Molekule Common Stock.
 

At the effective time of the Molekule Merger, each in-the-money Legacy Molekule warrant, by virtue of the Molekule Merger and without further
action on the part of the holder thereof, converted into the right to receive, for each share of Legacy Molekule common stock subject to such in-the-money
Legacy Molekule warrant (including shares of Legacy Molekule common stock issuable upon conversion of any Legacy Molekule preferred stock issuable
upon exercise of any Legacy Molekule warrant), a portion of the Molekule Merger Consideration equal to the Molekule Merger Consideration that would
have been payable in respect of such share had such in-the-money Legacy Molekule warrant been exercised immediately prior to the effective time of the
Molekule Merger less the exercise price with respect to such warrant. Each Legacy Molekule warrant issued and outstanding as of the effective time of the
Molekule Merger that was not an in-the-money Legacy Molekule warrant was automatically cancelled and terminated for no consideration immediately
prior to the effective time of the Molekule Merger.
 

At the effective time of the Molekule Merger, each outstanding option to acquire Legacy Molekule common stock was cancelled and terminated for no
consideration. The Residual Shares were converted at the effective time of the Molekule Merger into the number of shares of Molekule Common Stock
equal to the product of the number of such Residual Shares and the exchange ratio determined in accordance with the Molekule Merger Agreement.
 
Note 2. Basis of Pro Forma Presentation
 

The accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements have been prepared pursuant to Regulation S-X as amended by the
final rule, Release No. 33-10786 “Amendments to Financial Disclosures about Acquired and Disposed Businesses.” The accompanying unaudited pro
forma condensed combined financial statements are based on the historical financial information of Molekule and Legacy Molekule. In the opinion of
Molekule’s management, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements reflect adjustments that are necessary to present fairly the
unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the period indicated.
 

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations is for illustrative and informational purposes only and is not intended to
represent what Molekule’s results of operations would have been had the Molekule Merger occurred on the dates indicated. The unaudited pro forma
condensed combined statement of operations also should not be considered indicative of Molekule’s future results of operations.
 

Molekule and Legacy Molekule prepared their respective statement of operations in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States (“U.S. GAAP”). The Molekule Merger is being accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting under the provisions of Accounting
Standards Codification 805, Business Combinations, with Molekule being treated as the accounting acquirer. In identifying Molekule as the acquiring
entity for accounting purposes, Molekule and Legacy Molekule took into account a number of factors, including (i) which entity is issuing its equity
interests, (ii) the expectation that, following the effective time of the Molekule Merger, holders of shares of Molekule Common Stock as of immediately
prior to the effective time of the Molekule Merger will hold, in the aggregate, more than 50% of the issued and outstanding shares of Molekule Common
Stock immediately following the effective time of the Molekule Merger, (iii) the intended corporate governance structure of Molekule following the
effective time of the Molekule Merger, (iv) the intended senior management of Molekule following the effective time of the Molekule Merger and (v) the
terms of the share exchange. No single factor was the sole determinant in the overall conclusion that Molekule is the acquirer for accounting purposes;
rather, all factors were considered in arriving at such conclusion.
 

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 gives effect to the Molekule
Merger as if it had occurred on January 1, 2022.
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Purchase Price Consideration
  

The allocation of the purchase price consideration reflected in these pro forma condensed combined financial statements consists of equity
consideration in the form of shares of Molekule Common Stock issued to Legacy Molekule stockholders with a value of $52,466,073 based on 14,907,210
shares of Molekule Common Stock that Molekule issued to holders of Legacy Molekule common stock in connection with the Molekule Merger, 23,608
shares of Molekule Common Stock issued to Legacy Molekule warrantholders and 500,380 shares of Molekule Common Stock that vested prior to or on
the closing date of the Molekule Merger. The value has been calculated based on the $3.40 share price of Molekule Common Stock on January 12, 2023
(the closing date of the Molekule Merger).
 

The valuation of the Molekule Merger Consideration is calculated as follows:
 

Shares of Molekule Common Stock Issued to Legacy Molekule Stockholders     14,907,210 
Shares of Molekule Common Stock Issued to Legacy Molekule Warrantholders     23,608 
Total     14,930,818 

Molekule closing share price as of January 12, 2023   $ 3.40 
Consideration Transferred for Share Exchange     50,764,781 

Fair value of replacement awards attributable to pre-Molekule Merger services     1,701,292 
Total Consideration Transferred   $ 52,466,073 

 
Note 3. Adjustments to Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2022
 

(a) The historical data presented for Molekule Group, Inc. has been derived from Molekule’s audited consolidated statement of operations for the year
ended December 31, 2022.

 
(b) The historical data presented for Molekule, Inc. has been derived from Legacy Molekule’s audited consolidated statement of operations for the

year ended December 31, 2022.
 

(c) Legacy Molekule’s “sales, marketing and advertising” expenses of $9,389,376 has been reclassified to “selling, general and administrative”
expenses to conform to Molekule’s presentation. Legacy Molekule’s “general, administrative, research and development” expenses of $38,948,195
has been reclassified to “selling, general and administrative” expenses of $38,246,989 and “research and development” expenses of $701,206 to
conform to Molekule’s presentation.

 
(d) Represents (1) one-time transaction-related expenses of $367,425 that were incurred in connection with the Molekule Merger and (2) $622,277 of

stock-based compensation for equity granted in connection with the Molekule Merger.
 

(e) Basic and diluted loss per share were calculated using the historical weighted average shares outstanding and reflects (a) the issuance of
14,907,210 shares of Molekule Common Stock to Legacy Molekule stockholders as Molekule Merger Consideration, (b) the issuance of 23,608
shares of Molekule Common Stock to Legacy Molekule warrantholders as Molekule Merger Consideration and (c) 500,380 shares of Molekule
Common Stock that vested prior to or on the closing of the Molekule Merger, assuming in each case that the shares were outstanding since
January 1, 2022. Molekule’s warrants and restricted stock units were not included since the effects of potentially dilutive securities are
antidilutive.
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